

AUSTRALIA-JAPAN RESEARCH CENTRE

ANU COLLEGE OF ASIA & THE PACIFIC CRAWFORD SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS AND GOVERNMENT

HOW SHOULD ONE EVALUATE FISCAL CONDITIONS? A STUDY BASED ON THE COMPARISON BETWEEN JAPAN AND AUSTRALIA

Jun Ikeda



ASIA PACIFIC ECONOMIC PAPERS No. 364, 2007

(formerly Pacific Economic Papers)

ASIA PACIFIC ECONOMIC PAPER NO. 364

2007

How Should One Evaluate Fiscal Conditions: A Study Based on the Comparison between Japan and Australia

Jun Ikeda Australia–Japan Research Centre The Australian National University Jun.Ikeda@anu.edu.au

AUSTRALIA-JAPAN RESEARCH CENTRE CRAWFORD SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS & GOVERNMENT ANU COLLEGE OF ASIA AND THE PACIFIC © Jun Ikeda 2007

This work is copyright. Apart from those uses which may be permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968* as amended, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission.

Asia Pacific Economic Papers (formerly Pacific Economic Papers) are published under the direction of the Editorial Committee of the Australia–Japan Research Centre. Members of the Editorial Committee are:

Professor Jenny Corbett Executive Director Australia–Japan Research Centre The Australian National University, Canberra

Professor Emeritus Peter Drysdale Crawford School of Economics and Government The Australian National University, Canberra

Professor Christopher Findlay Professor of Economics University of Adelaide Adelaide, South Australia

Professor Stuart Harris Department of International Relations The Australian National University, Canberra

Dr Kazuki Onji Post-Doctoral Fellow Australia–Japan Research Centre The Australian National University, Canberra

Papers submitted for publication in this series are subject to double-blind external review by two referees.

The Australia–Japan Research Centre is part of the Crawford School of Economics and Government, The Australian National University, Canberra.

ISSN 0 728 8409 ISBN 0 86413 316 2

Australia–Japan Research Centre Crawford School of Economics and Government The Australian National University Canberra ACT 0200

Telephone: (61 2) 6125 3780 Facsimile: (61 2) 6125 0767 E-mail: ajrc@anu.edu.au URL: http://www.crawford.anu.edu.au

Contents

List of tables and figures vi
1 Introduction 1
2 Fiscal developments, evaluating fiscal conditions in Japan and Australia
3 How should fiscal conditions be evaluated thoroughly? 7
4 The sustainability of fiscal and foreign liabilities
5 The influence of sustainability of foreign liabilities on fiscal conditions 12
6 The evaluation of fiscal conditions from a multi-faceted viewpoint
7 Conclusion
<i>Notes</i>
References

TABLES

Table 1	Gross fiscal liabilities in major countries,	3
Table 2	Net foreign liabilities in major countries	12
Table 3	Comparison of main economic indicators in Japan and Australia	14
Table 4	Breakdown of central government securities holders in Japan	16
Table 5	Forecast for future population structures in Japan and Australia	23

FIGURES

Figure 1	Fiscal balances in Japan and Australia 2
Figure 2	Gross fiscal liabilities in Japan and Australia
Figure 3	Nominal GDP growth rate and long-term interest rate in Japan
Figure 4	Current balances in Japan and Australia 10
Figure 5	Net foreign liabilities in Australia 11
Figure 6	Nominal and real GDP growth rates in Japan and Australia
Figure 7	Net foreign assets in Japan 16
Figure 8	Account balances by economic sector in Japan 17
Figure 9	Net household saving rates in Japan and Australia 18
Figure 10	Implicit price deflators (IPD) for goods and services credits and debits terms of trade and exchange rates in Australia
Figure 11	Account balances by economic sector in Australia 22
	in Australia

How Should One Evaluate Fiscal Conditions? A Study Based on the Comparison Between Japan and Australia

In comparing fiscal indicators of Japan and Australia, it is generally perceived that Japan's fiscal conditions are very serious and those of Australia are very sound. However, in Australia the rising ratio of foreign liabilities to GDP is the source of anxiety in the market, which in turn reduces the flexibility of fiscal policy. If such economic conditions are considered, the evaluation of Australia's fiscal conditions is worse than one based on fiscal indicator alone, while the opposite relationship is the case for Japan. The fiscal conditions of the two countries are a good example to demonstrate that fiscal conditions should be evaluated as part of economic conditions.

1 Introduction

In comparing fiscal indicators of Japan and Australia, Japan has been in huge fiscal deficit and the fiscal liabilities are increasing, so fiscal sustainability is said to be of concern. However, while Australia has been in fiscal surplus for almost 10 years, its net fiscal liabilities became negative recently. Based on these facts, the general view is that Japan's fiscal conditions are very serious and those of Australia are very sound. With these indicators in direct contrast in the two countries, would the evaluations of those fiscal conditions really be opposite?

In Australia, the current account deficit is large and foreign liabilities have increased noticeably. It does not seem to matter so much to the Australian authorities whether foreign liabilities increase or not. However, in a broad sense fiscal liabilities and foreign liabilities ought to be similar in character, as ultimately the entire nation bears the liabilities. Considering such similarity, the sustainability of the Australia's foreign liabilities must be of some concern. If so, that would influence fiscal conditions adversely.

In this connection, as Musgrave (1959) shows, given the three functions of public finance—'the allocation' of resources, 'the distribution' of income and wealth, and 'the stabilisation' of an economy—public finance functions in relation with the national economy. Accordingly, if economic conditions deteriorated, this would affect the requirement for public finance, and if public finance performed its function appropriately, fiscal indicators would change in response to this. Even if public finance did not, the deterioration of economic conditions would be a potential factor in a change of fiscal indicators. Of course, existing

evaluations of fiscal conditions would generally reflect economic conditions. However, it is hard to say that these evaluations do this explicitly; these evaluations seem to depend largely on fiscal indicators.

From this point of view, in order to evaluate fiscal conditions more appropriately, one should examine under what circumstances fiscal conditions are assessed to be sound in the first place. In particular, it would be necessary to examine what explicit influence economic conditions (including the state of foreign liabilities) have on fiscal conditions.¹ If fiscal conditions were evaluated considering those points, the evaluations of the two countries would be a little different from the general view. This is the subject of concern.

2 Fiscal developments, evaluating fiscal conditions in Japan and Australia

Let us look at recent fiscal developments *in Japan*.² Since the collapse of the 'Bubble' in Japan in the early 1990s, the government had implemented expenditure increases and tax cuts successively to ease the impact of an economic downturn. Although tax revenues had already stagnated due to the downturn, tax cuts exacerbated fiscal conditions. Thus, expenditure kept increasing while revenue showed little improvement. As a result, the fiscal deficit increased steeply (Figure 1) and fiscal liabilities accumulated rapidly (Figure 2). The ratio of fiscal liabilities to GDP (or the fiscal liabilities ratio) was extremely high in comparison to other developed countries (Table 1).



Figure 1 Fiscal balances in Japan and Australia

Note: The figures of Japan exclude the account balance on Social Security Fund as noted in footnote 7. *Source*: OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.



Figure 2 Gross fiscal liabilities in Japan and Australia

OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.

Source:

	1990	2005	Comparison with 1990
Australia	21.9	14.4	-7 5
Japan	68.6	172.1	+103.5
Canada	74.5	69.3	-5.2
France	38.6	76.5	+37.9
Germany	41.5	69.6	+28.1
Italy	-	121.4	_
Korea	7.8	24.8	+17.0
New Zealand	_	26.5	_
United Kingdom	33.0	47.2	+14.2
United States	66.6	64.1	-2.5
Euro area	48.4	77.5	+29.1
Total OECD	56.3	77.7	+21.4

Table 1 Gross fiscal liabilities in major countries, (% of GDP)

Source: OECD,'Economic Outlook No.79'.

Recently, the fiscal deficit has been decreasing as economic recovery increased revenue and every effort to curtail expenditures continued. Nevertheless, almost all the fiscal deficit is structural³, which shows that the structural reform of the fiscal system is necessary, as economic recovery will not reduce the fiscal deficit significantly. Furthermore, the fiscal

liabilities ratio still keeps increasing and the primary balance⁴ is in deficit. Thus, Japan's public finances are still in a serious condition.

In Australia in the early 1990s when an economic downturn occurred, the fiscal balance deteriorated with the introduction of economic stimuli at the same time as revenue decreased. However, the economy recovered rapidly from the mid-1990s. Therefore, tax revenues increased, while the authorities endeavoured to curtail expenditure. Accordingly, the fiscal deficit declined steeply, and the fiscal balance has been almost in surplus since 1998 (Figure 1). As a result, fiscal liabilities decreased rapidly; the ratio to GDP fell from 42 per cent in 1995, the worst figure for 20 years, to 14 per cent in 2005 (Figure 2). An international comparison also ranks Australia at a very low level (Table 1). In net terms, total fiscal liabilities became negative in 2005.⁵

The key fiscal statistics of the two countries are as follows (as percentage of nominal GDP, as at 2005):

1)	Financial balances	Japan	-5.3%6	Australia	+1.5%
2)	Cyclically-adjusted balances	Japan	-4.9%	Australia	+1.5%
3)	Primary balances	Japan	-3.9%	Australia	+2.8%
4)	Gross financial liabilities	Japan	172.1%	Australia	14.4%
5)	Net financial liabilities ⁷	Japan	+86.3%	Australia	-0.5%
6)	Net debt interest payments	Japan	1.3%	Australia	1.3%
7)	Total outlays	Japan	36.9%	Australia	34.9%
8)	Total tax and non-tax receipts	Japan	31.7%8	Australia	36.4%

It is obvious that financial balances (including cyclically-adjusted and primary balances) and (gross and net) financial liabilities in the two countries differ widely. However, net debt interest payments are at the same level, reflecting very low interest rates in Japan, in spite of the difference of the size of liabilities.

Comparing the fiscal strategies of Japan and Australia, in Japan, the urgent fiscal target is to achieve a surplus in the primary balance of the central and local governments by the early 2010s (Japanese Government, 2006). The essential aim of the target is not to raise the fiscal liabilities ratio. The idea of primary balance is based on the proposition of Domar. This states that if the primary balance is zero, the fiscal liabilities ratio will remain at the same level under the precondition that nominal interest rates and the nominal growth rate of GDP are equal. Accordingly, if nominal interest rates are higher than the nominal growth rate, as in deflationaffected Japan (Figure 3), restoring the primary balance will not cause the fiscal liabilities ratio to level off. Thus, the fiscal situation of Japan is far from the essential aim of the target.



Figure 3 Nominal GDP growth rate and long-term interest rate in Japan

Source: OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.

Meanwhile in Australia, 'the primary objective of the medium-term fiscal strategy is to maintain budget balance, on average over the course of the economic cycle'. In addition, the authorities prudently assume that a fiscal surplus is necessary at present 'to meet future challenges flowing from demographic change and increasing demand for high quality health care' (2006–07 Budget Paper No.1, 2006). It may safely be said that this objective has almost been achieved.

General evaluations of fiscal conditions of the two countries are available from OECD, IMF and rating agencies. According to the OECD, in Japan, 'the government's financial position continues to deteriorate, raising concerns about fiscal sustainability at the same time that population ageing is increasing demands for public spending' (OECD, 2005b). Meanwhile in Australia, public finance is very healthy. However, 'ageing will exacerbate the underlying rise in public health costs and to a lesser extent in public pensions, putting pressure on public finances' (OECD, 2005a).

On the other hand, the IMF states that in Japan, 'the deficit remains large and the debt ratio on an unsustainable path. Prospective demands on the budget from an ageing society add urgency to the need for fiscal consolidation' (IMF, 2005b). Meanwhile in Australia, it sees 'the fiscal position is strong'. However, 'as in many countries, Australia faces the medium-term challenge of addressing the economic consequences of an ageing population and rising health care costs'. Concerning the recent rapid rise in the terms of trade, the Australian

authorities 'will reevaluate the extent to which the recent terms of trade gains were a cyclical or permanent factor, and fiscal policies would be adjusted if necessary'. The IMF supports this forward-looking approach (IMF, 2005a).⁹

In a comparison of ratings of long-term government bonds by three world-famous rating agencies, Standard & Poor's, Moody's and Fitch, those of Japan are ranked fourth (AA- by S&P and Fitch) or sixth (A2 by Moody's). These ratings have gradually been downgraded due to the deterioration of Japanese economic and fiscal conditions, despite having ranked highest (AAA or Aaa) until 1998. Meanwhile, those of Australia are now ranked at the highest level as the agencies regard a strong economy and sound fiscal conditions as most important. However, they had previously been downgraded to AA or Aa2 between 1986 and 1989 due to a concern for increasing foreign liabilities (as of December 2006).¹⁰

The fiscal conditions of Japan are very serious compared with other developed countries even according to the Japanese authorities' own evaluation. In addition, increases in various expenditures due to population ageing and in interest payments and debt redemptions due to continuing increases in government bonds outstanding make the structure of expenditures and revenues more and more inflexible (Japanese Government, 2005).

Evaluating their own economy the Australian authorities say: 'The fiscal outlook for Australia continues to remain sound'; 'Australia's very strong fiscal position compared to OECD countries is highlighted'; and 'Nevertheless, a steadily ageing population is likely to continue to place significant pressure on Commonwealth government finances' (2006–07 Budget Paper No.1, 2006, and Commonwealth of Australia, 2002a).

Analysing these evaluations, one could develop a general view that Japanese fiscal conditions were very serious, while those of Australia were very sound. However, the evaluations do not seem to consider economic conditions explicitly, although population ageing is often mentioned as a factor in a possible future deterioration of fiscal conditions. Of course, it is probable that for the OECD and the IMF the factors influencing fiscal conditions are buried in their reports, because they report the evaluations of fiscal conditions as a part of those of economic conditions. However, the relationship between fiscal conditions and other economic conditions are not clearly mentioned in the reports; there are few descriptions that relate clearly to the fiscal conditions described above.

Meanwhile, the evaluations by rating agencies and the two governments aim mainly at evaluating fiscal conditions. Therefore, they consider economic conditions to some degree¹¹. Nevertheless, factors that may influence fiscal conditions are described qualitatively and are treated as nothing but an annotation. It is not clear how significantly those factors influence fiscal conditions. Thus, it seems that existing evaluations of fiscal conditions are founded solely on fiscal indicators.

3 How should fiscal conditions be evaluated thoroughly?

Although there would be many views on how fiscal conditions should be evaluated, this paper focuses on the relationship between the size of fiscal liabilities and the potential ability to repay them. If the latter exceeded the former, public finance could perform its functions appropriately (as set out in Section 1) not worrying about the repayments of the liabilities. The larger the latter become or the smaller the former, the better the evaluation of fiscal conditions. In addition, both evaluations should be prospective, looking to the future, because if public finance performs its functions in response to a prospective change in economic conditions, the size of fiscal liabilities would reflect this.

However, the view that no liabilities are optimal would cause a problem by restricting the flexibility of fiscal policy, and public finance could not perform its functions appropriately. It is also important to have a balance between fiscal sustainability and the functioning of public finance. Although there is no consensus on how this should be balanced, some amount of fiscal liabilities should be tolerated; the evaluation of fiscal conditions should be constant even if the liabilities are less than that amount.¹² Conversely, if the size of liabilities exceed the potential ability, public finance could hardly perform its functions; in this situation, fiscal liabilities might become unsustainable permanently and therefore the repayments of liabilities would be required first of all. The paper reviews this sustainability in Section 4, because this matter is different in nature from any ordinary evaluation of fiscal conditions.

How, then, should the potential ability to repay liabilities be measured? What factors other than fiscal indicators are to be considered? If one devises a restructuring plan for a private corporation whose potential is of some concern, the important points will be: whether or not the circumstances surrounding that corporation, such as business conditions, enable the corporation to survive, and to what degree the corporation will make a commitment to reform its size, structure, nature and so on to adapt itself to the circumstances. How should these two criteria be applied to a government?

First, the circumstances surrounding a corporation correspond to the economic conditions of the country concerned. Of course, there is a little difference between them; in the case of a government, the extent to which the economy has the ability to repay liabilities is what is relevant because ultimately the entire nation owes the liabilities, rather than the government, while in the case of a corporation, the extent to which there is room to make a profit is what is relevant.

Second, the willingness to reform corresponds to the determination of the authorities to reduce liabilities. Whether the public accepts the government's determination or not is also important. To sum up, it does matter to what degree the entire nation intends to reduce liabilities.¹³

However, it is the creditors or the potential creditors to a government, or in a broad sense the market, that judge directly whether the authorities have the potential ability or not. It is hard to imagine that the market would estimate this ability objectively based on the economic conditions and the commitment of the authorities. This ability would depend on to what degree the market has confidence in the authorities and the economy. It should be noted that even if the conditions affecting the government's ability are unchanged, it would be very likely that confidence would be shaken.¹⁴

Nevertheless, because the concept of confidence is hard to grasp, it is worth reviewing economic conditions and the commitment of the authorities, which represent the evidence underpinning confidence. As mentioned above, fiscal liabilities are repaid indirectly by the economy in the end. Accordingly, if economic conditions were strong and this was expected to continue in the future, it would be judged that the economy has great potential to repay liabilities stably in the medium-long term. In addition, automatic increases in tax revenues would unintentionally decrease liabilities.

How, then, can we judge whether economic conditions are strong or not? First, GDP would be easy to understand as a means of judgment. Apart from the importance of the contents of GDP, if liabilities are increasing in harmony with GDP, the ability to repay must be unchanged. The fact that the fiscal liabilities ratio is generally used as one of fiscal indicators seems to provide some support for the proposition that there is a close relationship between fiscal and economic conditions.

In general, it would be best to take economic conditions quantitatively and evaluate fiscal conditions comprehensively based on this. However, there are many debates about how each economic indicator should be taken into consideration; accordingly, this may be very difficult. The second best method is to supplement a fiscal indicator-based evaluation with economic conditions qualitatively: to evaluate fiscal conditions from a multi-faceted viewpoint considering economic conditions. This would cause the debates mentioned above. Therefore, the paper mentions the remedy for this point in Section 6.

As for the commitment of the authorities to reduce liabilities, it may be possible to cut expenditure to some degree by making public services more efficient, but to cut expenditure on a large scale would require some reductions in public services themselves. If the authorities do not intend to review the contents of expenditure programs, it may be difficult to expect a sharp reduction in expenditure. Thus, the attitude of the authorities (and the people) towards the size of expenditure and the purpose of expenditures is an important point in evaluating the willingness of the authorities to reduce fiscal liabilities.

4 The sustainability of fiscal and foreign liabilities

As noted in Section 3, the two criteria for judging the potential ability to repay fiscal liabilities are not concrete. Nevertheless, it may safely be said that if the ratio of fiscal liabilities to GDP keeps rising, the liabilities will eventually become unsustainable because GDP has a great influence on the potential of the economy. However, with the ratio being at a low level, liabilities will remain sustainable for some time. Accordingly, the sustainability of fiscal liabilities is of concern when the fiscal liabilities ratio keeps rising and the ratio substantially exceeds the average level by international standards.¹⁵

In general, the higher the fiscal liabilities ratio is, the more a rise in interest rates will increase interest payments and, as the result, liabilities. Accordingly, even if the liabilities ratio stayed at the same level, a higher ratio could generate uncertainty about the sustainability of the liabilities. Thus, the fact that the above condition is not satisfied is the minimum requirement for the sustainability of fiscal liabilities.

There is some similarity between fiscal and foreign liabilities in that both repay liabilities. But, there is a difference between them; fiscal liabilities are the responsibility of government's, while foreign liabilities are repaid by various economic entities (including the government) in the economy. However, the government itself does not have the ability to repay fiscal liabilities; therefore, the entire nation will ultimately be responsible for the liabilities. Meanwhile, various economic entities in the economy are nearly equal to the entire nation. Thus, the difference between these liabilities is not so large. Therefore, GDP has a great influence over foreign liabilities just as it does over fiscal ones.¹⁶ If the ratio of net foreign liabilities to GDP (or the net foreign liabilities ratio) kept rising and the ratio exceeded the average level by international standards substantially, sustainability would be of concern.

Concerning the current account deficit in Australia causing the accumulation of foreign liabilities, Pitchford (1989), Corden (1991) and others have developed an argument that has been increasingly widely supported. The argument is that current account deficits reflect the gap between investments and savings in the domestic sector, which is derived from the best choice by well-informed people. In such a world, it does not matter whether the level of the current account deficit is high or not. If current account deficits were derived from a structural distortion in the economy, it would be necessary to correct the distortion. However, one cannot assume that the current account balance would necessarily be improved by any correction.

According to this view, it is hard to imagine the sustainability of foreign liabilities being a concern and the minimum requirement mentioned above does not make any sense even if

the foreign liabilities ratio keeps rising. Indeed, given that the market mechanism will not work for governments, it is hard to say that a government decides the size of fiscal liabilities rationally. Therefore, if a government does not deliberately control their size, liabilities might become unsustainable.

Meanwhile, if private entities acted completely rationally, they could decide the size of foreign liabilities so that they would not exceed the potential ability to repay the liabilities. However, there is what is called market failure caused by externalities and restricted information in the economy, although private entities generally act under the market mechanism. In such a world, it is probable that the potential ability to repay foreign liabilities falls short of the size of the liabilities due to, for example, the fluctuation of economic conditions, even though private entities may not intend this to occur. In general, the probability increases as the liabilities ratio rises. Under these circumstances, the minimum requirement for the sustainability of foreign liabilities would be of great significance.

We should now compare the fiscal liabilities in Japan and the foreign liabilities in Australia. First, in Japan the fiscal liabilities ratio keeps rising and this is extremely high among developed countries (Table 1). The authorities recognise fiscal conditions to be very serious and reduction of the fiscal deficit is an urgent task. Meanwhile in Australia, as a result of continuing current account deficits, the net foreign liabilities ratio has kept rising over the medium-long term (Figures 4 and 5). The ratio is classed as the highest level among



Figure 4 Current balances in Japan and Australia

Source: OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.

60 Australia (United States) 50 40 (% of GDP) 30 20 10 0 1990 1995 2000 2005 980 -10 -20

Figure 5 Net foreign liabilities in Australia

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 'Balance of Payments and International Investment Position, Australia, Mar. 2006', (Australia) and IMF, 'International Financial Statistics' website (United States).

developed countries (Table 2). Nevertheless, the authorities seem to think that the present situation is not so serious that sustainability of foreign liabilities becomes a concern.¹⁷

One reason why the authorities of the two countries deal with these liabilities differently may be the level of the liabilities ratio. The levels at which the sustainability matters would depend on liabilities. Perhaps, the fact that the Australian economy is strong may imply that the potential ability to repay foreign liabilities is high.¹⁸ It is also possible that the authorities gain confidence from the fact that economic entities in the world believe that, in a growing economy, the upward tendency in the net foreign liabilities ratio will come to a stop some day.¹⁹

However, the Australian authorities are unlikely to be reluctant to put the brakes on the upward trend in the foreign liabilities ratio in a steadily growing economy as long as they think that the present situation is not serious.²⁰ This suggests that the authorities are concerned about the matter of foreign liabilities, albeit tacitly.²¹ Such an official view would reflect the general concern among the public about the growth of foreign liabilities. Of course, it is hard to say that there are objective grounds for this view. Nevertheless, it should be noted that people do not think that the present situation is desirable and the authorities have to take account of public opinion.

	Amount	
	(billions of \$)	(of GDP)
Australia (*1)	+411.0	60 %
Japan	-1,784.5	-37 %
Canada (*1)	+151.0	13 %
France	-151.0	-7 %
Germany	-269.2	-9 %
Italy	+123.7	7 %
Korea	-90.3	-12 %
New Zealand	+90.5	85 %
United Kingdom (*1)	+371.0	18 %
United States	+2,542.2	22 %
Argentina	-3.8	-2 %
Brazil	+297.7	45 %
Chile	+30.2	29 %
Mexico	+310.3	45 %
Venezuela	-15.7	-15 %
Philippine (*2)	+41.7	54 %
Poland	+127.3	41 %
Russia	+3.9	1 %

T 11 3		1. 1. 1. 1.	•		(C 1	C 2004)
Lable 2	Net foreigr	n liabilities i	n maior	countries (as of end	of 2004)
	THE INTER	i maomineo i	ii iiiajoi	countries (as or ena	01 2001)

Notes (*1) As of end of 2005

(*2) As of end of 2003

Source: IMF, 'International Financial Statistics' 000 website (as of June 2006).

5 The influence of sustainability of foreign liabilities on fiscal conditions

In a situation where foreign liabilities kept rising, to reduce current account deficit in order to put the brakes on the upward trend, it is necessary to tighten fiscal policy in the short term according to general theories of the Keynesian economics. The following explanation of this policy change is based on the IS–LM theory²² and Mundell–Fleming theory, which extends the former theory to an open economy application. First, tight fiscal policy shifts the IS curve to the left. Although it is said that the effect of fiscal policy on GDP becomes smaller as the economy matures, GDP will still decrease to some extent. With this decrease, interest rates will fall; therefore, the capital inflow from overseas will decrease (or the capital outflow overseas will increase). Accordingly, the currency will depreciate; as the result, the current account balance will improve (that is, current account deficit will decline) as exports will increase and imports will decrease. Meanwhile, a decrease in GDP will cause a decrease in imports and this contributes to an improvement in current balance.²³

However, this means that the authorities could not loosen fiscal policy, even if the economic conditions deteriorated considerably, particularly over a long period, apart from the times when the economy is strong and the fiscal policy is tightened from the viewpoint of preventing the economy from overheating. If the authorities cut taxes or increased expenditures in order to mitigate against stagnation, fiscal liabilities would accumulate. As Gruen and Stevens (2000) note, the view that 'one of the reasons Australia has maintained confidence of foreign investors over the two decades of high current account deficits has been the fiscal restraint and discipline', the accumulation of fiscal liabilities could cause the market to lose confidence in the ability to repay foreign liabilities. To avoid this, loose fiscal policy would be difficult to implement.

Of course, the upward trend in the net foreign liabilities ratio does not mean that the liabilities are directly unsustainable. However, given that the public does not think that the present situation is desirable (as noted in Section 4), the authorities have no option but to tighten fiscal policy, which means there is less flexibility in fiscal policy.

6 The evaluation of fiscal conditions from a multi-faceted viewpoint

This section evaluates the fiscal conditions of Japan and Australia from a multi-faceted viewpoint considering the potential ability to repay fiscal liabilities, after defining the major differences in the economic conditions of the two countries.

As mentioned in Section 2, existing evaluations of the fiscal conditions of Japan and Australia do not explicitly take account of economic conditions. To improve this even a little, this paper compares the different influences economic conditions of the two countries have on fiscal conditions, which would make the evaluation of fiscal conditions more objective. However, taking all economic indicators into consideration would make the evaluation complicated and opaque. Accordingly, after defining major differences of economic conditions of the two countries, Section 6 considers how these differences qualitatively influence the fiscal conditions of the two countries. From this point of view, Table 3 compares some economic indicators in the two countries. In this table, indicators that show major differences between those countries are GDP, price trends, interest rates, the structure of exports and imports, the balance of payments and foreign assets/liabilities.

GDP in Australia has grown strongly in recent years, while in Japan GDP has stagnated. Price trends in Japan are outstanding, as their level has been falling. Interest rates in Japan are at the lowest level in the world. As to the structure of Australian exports and imports, the percentage of primary products in exports and that of manufactures in imports is relatively high. Current account and foreign assets/liabilities are the most characteristic among various

		(Point in time)	Japan	Australia	(Source)
GDP	Real GDP growth rate	5 year average	1.4 %	3.1 %	(*5)
	Nominal GDP (in billions	2005	4,559	730	
	GDP per capita (in US\$, based on PPPs)	2004	29,567	32,409	
Price	Consumer price index (change from previous year)	5 year average until 2005	-0.4 %	3.0 %	(*7)
Productivity	Labour productivity (change from previous year)		1.7 %	0.9 %	(*8)
Employment	Unemployment rate	2005	4.4 %	5.1 %	(*7)
Interest rate	Long-term interest rate	2005	1.4 %	5.3 %	(*7)
Saving	Net household saving rate	2005	2.4 %	-2.6 %	(*8)
Industry structure	Breakdown of GDP by industry (% of GDP) Agriculture, forestry & fishing Mining Manufacturing & construction Others	2004 (*1)	2 % 0 % 26 % 72 %	3 % 5 % 19 % 72 %	(*5)
Exports and imports	Ratio of exports to GDP Ratio of imports to GDP Breakdown of exports by sectio (% of GDP) Food live animal etc	2005 (*1) n 2005	14 % 13 % (*4)	18 % 21 %	(*5) (*9)
	Crude materials, mineral fuels, Manufactured goods, etc. Breakdown of imports by sectio Food, live animal, etc. Crude materials, mineral fuels, Manufactured goods, etc.	etc. n (% of GDP) etc.	2 % 98 % 10 % 32 % 59 %	47 % 37 % (*4) 4 % 13 % 83 %	
Balance of payments	Trade balance (of GDP) Current balance (of GDP) Net foreign assets (of GDP)	2005 (*1) end of 2005(*2)	2.1 % 3.6 % 36 %-	-2.7 % -6.4 % 59 %	(*10)
Exchange rate	Real effective exchange rate (2000=100)	2005	81.1	127.7	(*7)
Population	Total population (million) 1 Ratio of people aged 65 and ov Ratio of people aged under 15 Total fertility rate Life expectancy (male) Life expectancy (female)	er 2005 (*1) 2004 (*3)	128 20 % 14 % 1.25 78.6 85.6	20 13 % 20 % 1.80 78.1 83.0	(*11)

Table 3 Comparison of main economic indicators in Japan and Australia

Note: (*1) Figures of Australia are until (or in) 2004-05. (*2) Figures of Australia are as of end of June 2005. (*3) Figures of Australia are in 2002-04. (*4) Breakdown of world exports is as follows: food, live animal, etc. 9%, Crude materials, mineral fuels, etc. 14%, manufactured goods, etc. 74% (WTO, 'International Trade Statistics 2005').

Source: (*5) SNA statistics in each country. (*6) OECD, National Accounts website (as of June 2006).
 (*7) OECD,'Main Economic Indicators' (as of June 2006). (*8) OECD,'Economic Outlook No.79' (2006). (*9) OECD, Monthly Statistics of International Trade – Data website (as of June 2006). Food, live animals, etc. is Section 0+1, crude materials, mineral fuels, etc. is Section 2-4 and manufactured goods, etc. is Section 5–9 of SITC classification. (*10) Statistics on balance of payments and international investment position in each country. (*11) Population statistics in each country.

economic indicators in the two countries as mentioned in Section 1. Table 3 shows the present trends in economic conditions only, but the estimate of the future developments would make the evaluation of fiscal conditions more appropriate. Although it is hard to estimate economic indicators in the future, the following considers some future developments such as those of population ageing which can be estimated in rough terms.

Evaluating fiscal conditions of Japan based on fiscal indicators alone is not significant. To review such an evaluation, let us examine the economic conditions and the will of the authorities to reduce liabilities as these are supposed to influence the evaluation of fiscal conditions.

Considering general economic conditions, the Japanese economy is recovering after emerging from the long depression after the collapse of the 'Bubble' (Figure 6). In addition, if the structural reform of the economy now under way results in success, the economy will become structurally stronger and grow more stably, although it is still too early to evaluate the results objectively. Furthermore, it is significant that the nominal growth rate of GDP is higher than the real growth rate coinciding with the disappearance of deflation. As nominal interest rates cannot become negative, it is more probable that the nominal growth rate is below nominal interest rates with deflating price levels. As mentioned in Section 2, in such a situation a problem could develop if restoring the primary balance does not cause the fiscal liabilities ratio to level off. However, as deflation disappears and the nominal growth rate



Figure 6 Nominal and real GDP growth rates in Japan and Australia

Source: OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.

	Amount (*)	(percentage)
General government	60	9 %
Central bank	94	14 %
Other financial institutions	451	67 %
Overseas	32	5 %
Households	26	4 %
Other	10	1 %
Total	672	100 %

Table 4Breakdown of central government securities holders in Japan (end of 2005,
trillion yen)

Note: (*) The figures include FILP (Fiscal Investment and Loan Program) bonds.

Source: Bank of Japan, 'Flow of Funds'.







increases, that problem will disappear. Furthermore, with the nominal growth rate becoming higher, revenues including tax revenues will increase while expenditure will effectively decrease leaving expenditure unchanged in spite of a price rise. These developments should contribute to an improvement in the primary balance and therefore improve the potential ability to repay fiscal liabilities. Thus, general economic conditions in Japan are a positive factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions.



Figure 8 Account balances by economic sector in Japan

Source: Economic and social research institute, Cabinet office, 'Annual report on national accounts of 2006'.

Positive net foreign assets mean that the total assets held by all domestic sectors in an economy exceed the total liabilities. As fiscal liabilities are a part of the total liabilities, from a macroeconomic view the greater the total assets in an economy, the greater the ability to repay fiscal liabilities.²⁴ However, even if the total assets were large, the authorities could not directly allocate a part of the total assets to the repayments of the liabilities. Consequently, positive net foreign assets in Japan are neutral aspects (or positive ones, if anything) for the evaluation of fiscal conditions.²⁵ In relation to current account surpluses in Japan, this shows that Japan has maintained high levels of competitiveness in exports, which contributes to strengthening general economic conditions.

Turning to the supply and demand of funds, in putting the brakes on the upward trend in the fiscal liabilities ratio, it is important to watch not only trends in the nominal growth rate of GDP but also those of interest rates, particularly, long-term real interest rates which are determined by the supply and demand of funds in the medium-long term. A rising fiscal deficit means a government increases the demand for money. Other things being equal, this would narrow the gap between the supply and demand of funds in the economy, and as a result would cause interest rates to rise. However, interest rates in Japan have tended to fall (Figure 3) in spite of rapid increases in the fiscal deficit, because the economy is experiencing surplus liquidity.²⁶ At present, interest rates are still very low by international standards and this contributes to improving potential ability to repay liabilities.

To estimate interest rates in the future, the prospects for the supply and demand of funds is important. In this respect, the household savings rate is falling gradually mainly because of population ageing (Figure 9), while the non-financial corporations are expected to increase the demand for money as the economic recovery progresses. In addition, financial institutions are reducing their net lending with the approach of the end of writing off bad loans. The fact that the household sector is contributing to reducing the supply of money while the business sector will generate an increase the demand for money could narrow the gap between the supply and demand of funds. This might raise interest rates in the future.

Thus, the trends in interest rates in the future may be a risk factor in the evaluation of Japan's fiscal conditions. For any government that is reducing its fiscal deficit, it is essential to adjust the pace of the reduction so as not to narrow the gap between the supply and demand of funds.

Turning to the balance on social security account, expenditure on social security occupies the largest percentage in the budget; the ratio to General Account expenditure for the 2006 fiscal year is 26 per cent. Furthermore, the expenditure is expected to rise rapidly in the future due to population ageing. The authorities estimate that the ratio of the total burdens on social security to the national income will rise by 4.5 percentage points resulting in 26.5 per cent in the 2025 fiscal year, even if the estimate takes account of the prospective reform of the medical insurance system (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, 2006).



Figure 9 Net household saving rates in Japan and Australia

Source: OECD, 'Economic Outlook No.79'.

In relation to Japan's various social security systems, the public pension system, which was the source of most concern, is said to have become sustainable through reforms undertaken in 2004.²⁷ These reforms are welcome because they will improve fiscal conditions in the future. However, the reforms assume certain tax increases in the future, as well as various economic conditions including the population trends for the next 100 years. There is no plan to introduce tax increases at the present time. As for population trends in the future, the birth rate might fall short of the estimation, unless the downward trend in the birth rate is reversed. If those assumptions are not satisfied, the public pension system could fall into deficit or the public would be required to increase their contributions or decrease benefits further. Therefore, there still exists deep-rooted concern among the population over the sustainability of the public pension system. Other systems such as the medical insurance system are also in the same situation. Reform of the social security system is still Japan's biggest problem.

In the meantime, all of the reforms could have an adverse influence on fiscal conditions indirectly, through an adverse effect on economic conditions, because the reform aims to increase contributions and decrease benefits. Of course, further progress of the reforms in the future is necessary. Nevertheless, given such indirect influences it is hard to evaluate how the balance in the social security account might influence fiscal conditions. It would be appropriate to suspend any full evaluation and consider them as a risk factor in the current evaluation of fiscal conditions.

How strong is the commitment of the authorities to reduce fiscal liabilities? At present (as of December 2006), the authorities are struggling seriously to make the fiscal conditions sound, partly supported by economic recovery. In the General Account budget, the authorities decided to reduce expenditure (excluding interest payments and debt redemptions) by 6.3 per cent over 3 years starting in the 2003 fiscal year, while estimating increases in revenue (excluding borrowings) by 9.6 per cent for the same period. As a result, the ratio of fiscal liabilities in the central government to GDP in the 2006 fiscal year will fall for the first time in 15 years.

To ensure fiscal conditions sound, the authorities believe that 'the necessary increase in the tax burdens should be minimised as much as possible by thoroughly implementing expenditure cuts and administrative reforms' following the principle of 'small and efficient government' (Japanese Government, 2006). At the same time, a rise in the consumption tax rate is seriously being considered. Furthermore, in the medium term, 'Integrated reform of expenditures and revenues' is to be undertaken, in which 'the government will examine the targets of government expenditures, medium-term goals for the size of government and in the major areas of expenditure both for the central and local governments, and issues related to revenues in an integrated manner' (Japanese Government, 2006).

As for fiscal strategies, the urgent target is to achieve a surplus in the primary balance of the central and local governments by the early 2010s for the purpose of the control of the fiscal liabilities ratio. In addition, the authorities are now considering the next target to reduce that ratio steadily after achieving the urgent target. Thus, various measures to reform the structure of expenditure are progressing so that expenditure can be reduced continuously. From the viewpoint of the ability to manage public finances, there is no denying that the measures are still developing compared with those of Australia. However, full-scale consideration of these measures is worth evaluating positively. It is hard to imagine that the public would support rebalancing the fiscal balance positively, particularly the rise in the rate of the consumption tax. However, it is also hard to prove that the rebalancing will have a serious effect on people and the economy as long as the economy keeps recovering. Yet the public will understand the rise, even if not positively. So the commitment of the authorities to reduce liabilities has never been questioned and should be considered as a positive factor although some problems still exist.

As mentioned in Section 2, based on fiscal indicators alone, the fiscal conditions of Australia would be perceived to be very sound, contrary to Japan. However, this paper also examines the economic conditions and the size of fiscal liabilities as they are supposed to influence the evaluation of the fiscal conditions. Recently, the Australian economy has been strong and resilient under favourable circumstances such as moderate inflation and low unemployment (Table 3 and Figure 6); real GDP has grown nearly 4 per cent per year on average. This good performance of the economy is held to be the result of 'wide-ranging reform, to both the microeconomic structure of the economy as well as the macroeconomic policy frameworks' (Gruen and Sayegh, 2005). Under those circumstances, it is hard to envisage the fiscal balance going into a large deficit because of an automatic decrease in tax revenues caused by worsening economic conditions, or because of large tax cuts or expenditure increases to ease an economic downturn. Thus, it is obvious that general economic conditions of Australia are a positive factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions.²⁸

In Australia, the rising ratio of foreign liabilities to GDP may generate some concerns in the market. As a result, the authorities have no option but to tighten fiscal policy, which means less flexibility in fiscal policy, as mentioned in Section 5. The fact that the fiscal balance of Australia has been in surplus even on a structural basis²⁹ would reflect fiscal policy keeping generally tight.³⁰

Heavy dependence on primary products in exports and manufactures in imports is characteristic of the structure of foreign trade in Australia (Table 3).³¹ Therefore, Australia's exports are affected by global investment demand that fluctuates widely and are hard for Australia to control.³² This would suggest that the structure of exports in Australia was unstable. Based on such a structure, let us suppose that exports decrease substantially due to

a deterioration in the global economy. In this case, the growth rate of GDP will generally fall and therefore, it is probable that the net foreign liabilities ratio rise rapidly.³³ Particularly, if the global economy continued to flounder for a long time, it is possible that a loss of confidence in the Australian economy could occur and make Australia's foreign liabilities become unsustainable.

Indeed, if currency adjustment were sufficient, this would generally reduce the current account deficit and therefore could not increase the net foreign liabilities ratio. However, in the current situation where the terms of trade are at a high level accompanied by the appreciation of the dollar, it is likely that the dollar will depreciate sharply (Figure 10). This could have an adverse effect on the economy with a sharp decrease in imports while the depreciation would reduce current account deficit. Thus, regardless of whether the dollar depreciation is sufficient or not, the problems mentioned above could occur. If expansionary fiscal policy were adopted to make such a situation better, fiscal indicators would worsen.

As mentioned in Section 2, the Australian authorities seem to be concerned about the trend in the terms of trade, and the IMF supports the authorities' view. This provides a strong reason why the authorities should disclose the medium-long term prospects for the structure of foreign trade and the trends in foreign liabilities, that is, the prospects of how the authorities would construct a stable structure for foreign trade and the resulting manner in which foreign liabilities would grow. It is essential to prepare appropriate measures to deal with this problem

Figure 10 Implicit price deflators (IPD) for goods and services credits and debits terms of trade and exchange rates in Australia



Note:IPD and Terms of Trade are indexes of 2003-04=100.Source:Australian Bureau of Statistics, 'Balance of Payments and International Investment Position, Mar.2006' (except PPP)and OECD, 'Purchasing Power Parities for OECD Countries'.

before the situation worsens, given that the flexibility of fiscal policy is restricted, as mentioned in Section 5. This analysis suggests that the structure of foreign trade in Australia, particularly that of exports, is a risk factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions unless the medium-long term prospects mentioned above are revealed.

In Australia, unlike Japan, it does not matter whether or not the authorities raise funds to make up for fiscal deficit, as the fiscal balance has been in surplus. However, it is possible that the economy could become unstable because of the fluctuations in the supply and demand of funds in the private sector, which could have an adverse effect on fiscal conditions. Reviewing developments in the account balance by economic sector for the past 20 years is set out in Figure 11. The balance in the external sector has been positive (that is, in current account deficit) and that in the government sector became positive several years ago, while the balance in the business sector has been negative and that in the household sector became negative recently affected by the long-lasting downward tendency in household savings rates (Figure 9).³⁴

Since private corporations usually raise money for their activities because they do not have enough available funds, the balance in the business sector is normally negative. In Australia, the business sector had been financed by the household sector and the external sector. Nevertheless, the business sector has come to depend largely on overseas funds as net household savings rates became negative in macroeconomic terms. In addition, the savings



Figure 11 Account balances by economic sector in Australia

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, 'Australian System of National Accounts, 2004-05', etc.

rate may fall further in the future due to population ageing, although that does not seem to influence the savings rate for the present (see footnote 34). Thus, the structure of the supply and demand for funds is becoming unstable because the business sector has become very dependent on overseas funds. This is a risk factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions.

Expenditure on social security in Australia represents the largest share in the budget, as it does in Japan (the percentage in 2004–05 is 29 per cent for all levels of government including state and local governments). In addition, the authorities estimate that if policies are not adjusted, the fiscal balance of the federal government will deteriorate rapidly from a surplus to a deficit amounting to 5 per cent of GDP by 2041–42 mainly because population ageing will increase expenditure on social security, directly or indirectly (Commonwealth of Australia, 2002a).³⁵ The ageing population will cause the balances in social security system.³⁶ In Australia, the social security system is based on a 'pay-as-you-go' system in broad terms: general revenues such as tax revenues to balance the account for the social security system.³⁷ Accordingly, although ageing in Japan is believed to be more rapid than that of Australia (Table 5), we should pay attention to the fact that population ageing affects Australia more directly than Japan.³⁸

In view of the estimates that the balance in the social security account will deteriorate rapidly, the Australian government established the 'Future Fund' in 2005–06 fiscal year,

	Japan		Australia	
	2050 (Forecast)	Changes from 2000	2051 (Forecast)	Changes from 2000
Total population [billion]	101	-21 %	28	+47 %
Ratio of people aged 65 and over	36 %	+18 % point	26 %	+13 % point
Ratio of people aged under 15	11 %	-4 % point	15 %	-6 % point
(Assumptions)				
Total fertility rate	1.39	+0.03	1.7	-0.1
Life expectancy (male)	81.0	+3.3	84.9	+8.4
(female)	89.2	+4.6	88.0	+6.
Net overseas migration [thousand]	77	+47	110	-1

Table 5 Forecast for future population structures in Japan and Australia

Source: [Japan] National institute of population and Social Security Research, 'Population Projections for Japan: 2001–2050' (2002). (The assumptions use the medium variant projection.)
 [Australia] Australian Bureau of Statistics, 'Population Projections, Australia, 2004 to 2101' (2006). (The assumptions use Series B.)

which aims to accumulate sufficient financial assets to offset the federal government's unfunded superannuation liabilities by around 2020 (\$18 billion were accumulated as seed capital). Nevertheless, in comparison with Japan, the reform of the social security system in Australia seems to be making less progress. Nevertheless, considering the adverse influence this reform could have indirectly on fiscal conditions (as noted on pp.19–20), it would be appropriate to suspend final evaluation of how the trends in the balance in the social security account will influence fiscal conditions and consider this as a risk factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions, as it is in Japan.

Looking at the size of fiscal liabilities, the Australian authorities have explained that fiscal surpluses are necessary because the government must accumulate funds from now on to prepare for the future when the fiscal balance will be in huge deficit under the current fiscal structure. Indeed, having enough funds to prepare for the future would indicate that fiscal conditions were sound. However, it is certain that funds will be exhausted in the future.

Meanwhile, even if one did not take the future developments of fiscal liabilities into consideration, net fiscal liabilities being negative at the present time would not be evaluated positively in inverse proportion to their size, as noted in Section 3. Thus, the size of fiscal liabilities, regardless of the future developments, could not be a positive factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions.

Let us compare the evaluations of Australia and Japan, examining every item that influences the fiscal conditions of the two countries.

- General economic conditions of Australia are much better than that of Japan. Nevertheless, in Japan it should be noted that the disappearance of deflation would put the brakes on the upward trend of the fiscal liabilities ratio.
- For Australia, the rising ratio of net foreign liabilities to GDP is a negative factor because it makes fiscal policy less flexible. Meanwhile, the development of net foreign assets in Japan is a neutral factor.
- The structure of exports in Australia is unstable as exports are largely composed of primary products. Therefore, there is a risk that overseas factors such as the deterioration of the global economy could worsen the fiscal conditions through increasing concern for the sustainability of foreign liabilities or having an unfavourable effect on the economy.
- For Japan, the supply and demand of funds may tighten with the present economic recovery and this may raise interest rates in the future. Meanwhile, for Australia the structure of the supply and demand of funds is becoming unstable because the business sector comes to depend largely on overseas funds. Thus, the supply and demand of funds is a risk factor for both countries.
- The balance in the social security account is a factor that worsens the fiscal conditions for both countries, although it seems that the reform of the social security system in Japan is making

more progress than it is in Australia. Regardless, at present it is not clear what reforms will be undertaken and what influences the reforms will have on the economies; therefore, it would be appropriate for both countries to consider the account balance on social security as a risk factor.

- The commitment of the authorities to reduce liabilities does not apply for Australia as there are no net fiscal liabilities, while for Japan this is a positive factor because the commitment of the authorities has never been questioned as they are struggling seriously to make the fiscal conditions sound.
- It is obvious that the sustainability of fiscal liabilities in Japan is questionable, while net fiscal liabilities in Australia, which recently became negative, could not be a positive factor regardless of future developments of the liabilities.

Summarising the above points, general economic conditions of Australia are much better than those of Japan, while Japan has an advantage because of the development of foreign assets/liabilities, and the structure of foreign trade. In addition, the commitment of the authorities to reduce liabilities and the size of fiscal liabilities will positively affect the evaluation of Japan relative to Australia.

Of course, the evaluation from the multi-faceted viewpoint as argued above should not be decided by the country that has the largest number of favourable characteristics. Strong economic conditions would offset negative factors and prevent risk factors from surfacing. However, the strong economic conditions of Australia owe much to the overseas economic developments that are hard for the authorities to control; therefore, if these conditions deteriorated, the risk factors mentioned above could become more significant. Given these circumstances, the difference between the evaluations of both countries is not so large, in comparison with the difference between evaluations based on fiscal indicators alone.

7 Conclusion

This paper evaluates the fiscal conditions of Japan and Australia from the multi-faceted viewpoint taking account of all factors that seem relevant. The evaluations are based on the understanding that they should include under what circumstances fiscal conditions are estimated to be sound in the first place and what explicit influence economic conditions (such as the state of foreign liabilities) have on fiscal conditions.

Of course, existing evaluations of fiscal conditions would generally reflect economic conditions; however, that is not an explicit factor. To rectify this even a little, this paper evaluates the fiscal conditions of both countries comparing the difference between the influences economic conditions of those countries have on fiscal conditions, which would make the evaluations more objective.

The following characteristic points seem to have a great influence on the evaluation of the fiscal conditions of the two countries.

First, foreign liabilities: Australia has large net foreign liabilities. It is said that if the ratio of the Japanese fiscal liabilities to GDP continues to rise, those liabilities will eventually become unsustainable; similarly, in Australia the fact that the ratio of the foreign liabilities to GDP keeps rising will arouse concerns in the market. As a result, the authorities have no option but to tighten fiscal policy, which means there is less flexibility in fiscal policy.

Second, the structure of foreign trade: the structure of exports in Australia seems to be unstable and this could have some kind of adverse influence on fiscal conditions by creating risks for the sustainability of foreign liabilities. It is hard to imagine that the Australian authorities are not concerned about the foreign liabilities. Nevertheless, the authorities should disclose the medium-long term prospects for the structure of foreign trade and the trends of foreign liabilities, that is, the prospects of how the authorities would construct a stable structure of foreign trade and the resulting manner in which the foreign liabilities would grow.

Third, the size of fiscal liabilities: net fiscal liabilities in Australia, which recently became negative, could not be a positive factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions regardless of future developments of the liabilities.

Given the assessment in Section 6 covering these three points, the difference between the evaluations of the two countries is smaller than the difference based on fiscal indicators alone. Of course, there would be a refutation that the evaluation for Australia was too pessimistic. However, as the Australia's fiscal indicators illustrate best performance, it will be very natural that one cannot find many positive factors in the evaluation of fiscal conditions. Furthermore, policy management, which the multi-faceted evaluations above do not take into consideration, would offset negative factors and prevent risk factors from coming to the surface, provided it is carried out appropriately.

As public finance and the economy are closely related, the fact that the multi-faceted evaluation shows a worse result than fiscal indicator-based evaluation as is the case for Australia, would imply that current fiscal problems have already appeared in the economy to some extent. Meanwhile, the opposite relationship, as is the case for Japan, would similarly imply that public finance has shouldered the economic problems caused by the collapse of the 'Bubble'.

If either economic or fiscal conditions are in imbalance, some problems will occur from the viewpoint of both economic stability and fiscal soundness. Accordingly, the evaluation of fiscal conditions based on fiscal indicators alone would not give a comprehensive picture of public finance. Indeed, it is a very hard task to examine how economic conditions influence fiscal ones; nevertheless, fiscal conditions should be evaluated as part of economic conditions. The fiscal conditions of Japan and Australia are a good example to illustrate this.

Notes

Jun Ikeda is a Visiting Fellow, Australia–Japan Research Centre, Crawford School of Economics and Government, The Australian National University.

- 1 Given the functions that public finance should perform in the national economy, the size of government expenditure, the purpose of expenditures and those who finance expenditures should be considered in such an evaluation. However, consideration of these matters in themselves is a big subject, so this paper focuses on the matters of fiscal balance and liabilities.
- 2 The fiscal indicators shown below are those of the OECD, *'Economic Outlook No.79'*(2006) unless otherwise stated.
- 3 Fiscal balance can be divided into cyclical balance, which is the fiscal balance that fluctuates with the economic cycle, and structural balance (or cyclically-adjusted balance), which is the fiscal balance that excludes the cyclical balance. In *'Economic Outlook No.79'*, the structural balance in 2005 is –4.9 per cent of GDP relative to –5.2 per cent that is the ratio of the fiscal balance (on a basis of the Social Security Fund included) to GDP.
- 4 Primary balance is the fiscal balance reached after subtracting expenditures (excluding interest payments and debt redemptions) from tax and other revenues (excluding borrowings). The primary balance in 2005 is -3.9 per cent of GDP. For the meaning of primary balance, see p.5.
- 5 One of the reasons why the fiscal balance has improved rapidly is a concerted effort to curtail expenditures, which can be praised as a success in the reform of budget management. However, 'Total outlays' (which is defined by OECD) nearly doubled in 13 years ending in 2005 because GDP more than doubled although the ratio of the outlays to GDP decreased by 4.1 percentage point in the same period. Meanwhile, 'Total tax and non-tax receipts' (also defined by OECD) increased by 3.6 per cent of GDP although more than half of the automatic increase financed tax cuts. Receipts increased steeply, to 2.4 times the 1992 figure. Thus, it should be noted that expenditure has been cut in terms of GDP ratio, but not in terms of the amount; therefore, expenditure has not been reduced. The major factor in the success of the reduction of fiscal deficit is a continuing strong economy, which has never needed an additional increase in expenditure to stimulate the economy while automatically bringing a large increase in revenue.
- 6 This figure excludes the account in the Social Security Fund because the pension systems of Japan are partly based on a self-funding method; the assets of that account correspond to future liabilities practically. If included, the figure is -5.2 per cent. For reference, see footnote 36 to 38.
- 7 In comparing gross and net liabilities, theoretically, net liabilities must be more comprehensive; however, if considered in net terms, there is a good deal of discussion about how the future liabilities of public pension system should be estimated.
- 8 In Japan, this figure corresponds to the national burden rate, which is calculated as the ratio of tax burden and social security contribution to national income, not to GDP that is used in the OECD.
- 9 The IMF mention of the relationship with the terms of trade is noteworthy because it is rare for the IMF to describe the relationship between fiscal and economic conditions explicitly. The relationship with the terms of trade is argued in Section 6.
- 10 Among G7 countries, although Italy is ranked at about the same level as Japan, the other countries are at the highest level.
- 11 In the Budget Paper of Australia both Fiscal Outlook and Economic Outlook are described in detail given that 'the government's medium-term fiscal strategy is an integral part of the

economic management framework designed to deliver suitable economic growth'. In addition, there is one chapter concerning risk factors (Statement of Risks).

- 12 Some amount of fiscal liabilities will also be required from a viewpoint that government bonds are necessary to establish and maintain an appropriate financial market. In Australia, as an improvement in fiscal balance brought a reduction in government bond issues, stakeholders began to worry about the future viability of the bond market. Therefore, the authorities published a discussion paper to canvas opinions (Commonwealth of Australia, 2002b). Following this, the authorities announced in the 2003–04 Budget Paper that government bond issues would be maintained, considering various circumstances including the possibility that financial markets might become less diverse and more vulnerable in the absence of the bonds.
- 13 In 2002 when some rating agencies downgraded Japanese government bonds, the Ministry of Finance sent letters outlining their views to the agencies (Kawakami, 2002). The following is the main points; 1) ratings should be decided comprehensively taking into consideration not only fiscal conditions but also the fundamentals of an economy. In this context, the Japanese fundamentals are sound as Japan has the world's largest current account surpluses and foreign assets. 2) Japan is struggling positively to reform the economic and fiscal structure. Considering these points, the Japanese government suggested the ratings were too low. These two points would correspond to the two criteria for judgment in the text, respectively.
- 14 After starting in Thailand, the Asian financial crisis in late 1990s spread to other Asian countries. However, in those countries not all the economic conditions had been deteriorating. The direct cause of the crisis is the market (or major members of the market) losing confidence in the economies and this infected the other countries one after another.
- 15 There is no consensus on what level that ratio enters into 'danger zones'. Nevertheless, it is very helpful that the EU requires that fiscal liabilities (in gross terms) is less than 60 per cent of GDP as one of the condition for a country to be admitted into the EU and to adopt the Euro.
- 16 Although fiscal liabilities are in gross terms that do not include assets, foreign liabilities are in net terms, because there is no difference in nature between foreign assets and liabilities as foreign assets for one country corresponding to foreign liabilities for other countries.
- 17 Gruen and Sayegh (2005) of the Australian Treasury regard the view of Pitchford and others as persuasive. They also support the argument of Debelle and Galati (2005) that in developed countries the adjustment of current balances is brought about by endogenous factors – 'responding to the resolution of domestic imbalances', not by exogenous factors 'where the size of the current account deficit itself precipitates the adjustment' accompanied by a change in the nature of capital flows. Although Gruen and Sayegh state that their view is not necessarily that of the Australian Treasury, it is hard to imagine the official view being far from their view.
- 18 If there were any signs that the sustainability of foreign liabilities was of concern, first of all interest rates would rise because of the growing risk premium. In this respect, Gruen and Sayegh (2005) note that 'if there is currently a risk premium on Australian long bonds, it is a fairly small one' based on the developments of long bond yields in major countries.
- 19 Based on the formula found in footnote 33, even if the net foreign liabilities ratio kept rising, the ratio would level off some day provided the ratio of current account deficit to GDP and the nominal growth rate of GDP were constant. For example, suppose that the current account deficit ratio is 5 per cent and the growth rate is 6 per cent. In this case, the net foreign liabilities ratio will level off at about 83 per cent after continuing to rise, other things being equal. Actually, the result may differ depending on the fluctuation of the currency and market prices and so on.

- 20 Gruen and Sayegh (2005) estimate that if the goods and services trade balance turned to a surplus of about ½ to ¾ per cent of GDP, the net liabilities ratio would remain at the same level. Based on this estimate, they maintain that 'the requirement to run average surpluses of ½ to ¾ per cent of GDP in future does not appear too onerous an adjustment task for the economy', given that exports and imports are both about 20 per cent of GDP. However, it is hard to imagine that surpluses will occur quickly given the trend in the trade balance (-2.7 per cent of GDP in 2004–05).
- 21 This view is reinforced by the fact that the authorities would not openly express concern about the sustainability of foreign liabilities so as to avoid anxiety in the public.
- 22 The Investment Savings equilibrium/Liquidity preference/Money supply equilibrium.
- 23 Meanwhile, a change in monetary policy generally has a smaller influence on current balance than on fiscal policy, according to the broad thrust of these theories.
- 24 Reviewing a general pattern of fiscal collapses in the past, not only fiscal balances but also current balances of the collapsed economies had been in deficit, as their economies were financed from overseas because of a shortage of domestic savings. Consequently, in those countries not only fiscal liabilities but also foreign liabilities continued to increase. Under those circumstances, with a loss of confidence in the economy, financing funds move back overseas; therefore, both fiscal and foreign liabilities collapse. However, such a general pattern of fiscal collapses does not apply to Japan as it does not have net foreign liabilities and most of its fiscal liabilities are not financed from overseas. The ratio of the holdings by overseas investors to fiscal liabilities is 5 per cent in Japan (as of end of 2005, see Table 4), while the ratios in the other G5 countries range from 20 per cent to 45 per cent.
- 25 The accumulation of foreign assets in a country, particularly in a large country, result in foreign liabilities in other countries. Based on the minimum requirement for the sustainability of liabilities, a continuous rise in the ratio of the net foreign assets to GDP may make the international composition of foreign trade risky. This can indirectly have an adverse influence on fiscal conditions through its influence over economic conditions. However, actual developments in Japan show that the net foreign assets ratio has recently remained at the same level (Figure 7).
- The following is the developments of the account balances (net lending (+) / net borrowing (-) by economic sector since the collapse of the 'Bubble' (Figure 8).

1) The balance in the external sector has been constantly negative (that is, in current account surplus) and the net borrowing (in percentage of GDP) has not fluctuated so much, which means that both receipts from overseas and payments overseas have shown similar trends.

2) The balance in the business sector went from negative to positive due to the economic downturn after the collapse. In the business sector, the balance in the financial institutions became positive because they needed funds to write off bad loans arising from the collapse. Meanwhile, the balance in the non-financial corporations also became positive recently because of a slump in their business activities and the repayments of their excess liabilities.

3) The household sector reduced net lending gradually as household savings rates fell (Figure 9) mainly because of population ageing.

4) The balance in the government sector became negative (that is, in fiscal deficit) while having been marginally positive before, and led to increased borrowings. Recently, however, net borrowing has levelled off.

To put these developments in order roughly, the business sector came to have net lending and therefore, the government sector absorbed surplus money in the economy in the form of borrowings. Using the money, the government increased expenditures and cut taxes to prevent GDP from cooling down. Lower interest rates would indicate that the surplus by the business sector exceeded the absorption by the government.

- 27 For example, the Employees' Pension reform aim is that the income substitution ratio of benefits should fall gradually from 59.3 per cent to 50.2 per cent, while the insurance premiums should rise from 13.6 per cent to 18.3 per cent. By doing this, the accounts for the public pension system can maintain a balance between benefits and contributions for the next 100 years.
- A strong economy also makes foreign liabilities more sustainable through increasing and stabilising the denominator of the foreign liabilities ratio. This will also be a positive factor in the evaluation of fiscal conditions.
- 29 According to the economic theory noted in Section 5, tight fiscal policy ought to cause the depreciation of the currency. Nevertheless, the actual development shows that after having tended to fall until about 2000, the Australian dollar turned upward and recently levels off (Figure 10). The reason is supposed to be the influence of a rise in resource prices and therefore, tight fiscal policy will not take effect. However, if the authorities put the fiscal policy back to a natural one, this could have an adverse effect; the dollar would appreciate and therefore, the current account deficit in Australia could expand further.
- 30 In Australia, there has been vigorous controversy about the relationship between current account deficit and fiscal balance for a long time. In the 1990s, the Fitzgerald report (commissioned by the Treasury) played a theoretical role in the reduction of fiscal deficit in connection with foreign liabilities. In the report, he insists the necessity of raising public sector savings (in other words, the necessity of reducing fiscal deficit), noting that 'we cannot, on a sustainable basis, continue to finance the investment we need to grow by going progressively further into foreign debt'. 'It is national saving that matters in meeting the challenge we face' (FitzGerald, 1993). Makin (2002) also argues the necessity of reducing fiscal deficit from a viewpoint similar to FitzGerald. He adds that GDP will increase with the boosting of domestic investments, as a decrease in foreign liabilities will cause a fall in any risk premium of interest rates related to the liabilities.
- 31 Although the percentage of primary products in imports of Japan is also high relative to the average in the world, that percentage is still smaller than the percentage of primary products in exports of Australia (see Table 3).
- 32 As primary products are generally susceptible to investment demands while manufactures are susceptible to consumption demands, Australia's exports are vulnerable to investment demands and the imports are vulnerable to consumption demands. The fluctuation of investment demands is generally larger than that of consumption demands; therefore, in Australia it is likely that the fluctuation of exports is larger than that of imports. Incidentally, it is obvious that exports are mainly affected by global demands that are hard for the country concerned to control.
- 33 The condition that the net foreign liabilities ratio does not rise is:

 Δ (NFL/GDP) / (NFL/GDP) <= 0 NFL: Net foreign liabilities

If excluding the influences by the fluctuations of the currency, market prices and so on, the basic relationship between current balance and net foreign liabilities is:

```
ΔNFL = -BP
BP: Current balance
Accordingly, the condition is:
Δ(NFL/GDP) / (NFL/GDP) = ΔNFL / NFL - ΔGDP / GDP = -BP / NFL - g < = 0
g: The nominal growth rate of GDP
To put this in order, the following formula is derived.
IM - EX <= g * NFL
EX: Receipts from overseas
IM: Payments overseas
```

If exports decrease and the growth rate fall, the left side of the formula will increase and the right side will decrease. Therefore, it is probable that the formula will not hold; the fact noted in the text is obtained. Of course, a fall in the growth rate will bring about a decrease in imports and therefore, this will decrease the left side. Nevertheless, it is likely that this decrease is generally smaller than the increase in the right side due to the decrease in exports mentioned above. Incidentally, the proposition of Domar mentioned in Section 2 is a different version of the formula mentioned above.

- 34 Australian Treasury (2005) insists that financial deregulation has contributed to an increase in the level of household borrowing through significantly improving the efficiency and performance of the Australian financial system. Edey and Gower (2000) note that 'With most of the baby-boom generation in Australia now at, or close to, the age of maximum saving, simple life-cycle theories would therefore predict that demographic trends will soon begin to reduce household saving. Yet formal evidence to link age profiles to saving in an Australian context is scarce and inconclusive'.
- For all levels of government, the fiscal balance is estimated to deteriorate by around -6.4 percentage points by 2044-45 relative to 2003-04 in the absence of policy responses (Australian Productivity Commission, 2005). Incidentally, Gruen and Sayegh (2005) note that 'rising public health costs account for most of the projected deterioration in the primary budget balance. Of this, more than half is attributable to non-demographic health pressures, including (presumed) invention of improved, but more expensive, medical technologies and drugs'. However, the non-demographic health pressures are closely related with population ageing, which, therefore, could almost explain the deterioration in the fiscal balance directly or indirectly.
- 36 Using a self-funding method, which can be used in pension systems, each working generation sets aside funds necessary for retirement life and uses the accumulated funds and management gains on the funds as pension benefits after reaching the age of pension payment eligibility.
- 37 Under a 'pay-as-you-go' system, necessary benefits are financed by premiums contributed by the living generation. Australia had adopted that system before, but recently has begun to set aside funds for the future as mentioned below, which is not consistent with the philosophy of a 'pay-as-you-go' system; such funds dilute the character of that system.
- 38 In Japan, the Social Security Fund, which is a class of the General Government in the SNA (the System of National Accounts), has net financial assets of 212 trillion yen (43 per cent of GDP, as of end of the 2004 fiscal year) as the public pension system of Japan is a mixture of the system based on self-funding method and 'pay-as-you-go' system.

References

- Australian Productivity Commission (2005) 'Economic Implications of an Ageing Australia', Research Report, Canberra.
- ----- (2004) 'Trade & Assistance Review 2003-04', Annual Report Series, Canberra.
- Australian Treasury (2005) 'Possible Links between Household Debt, Demand for Imported Goods and Australia's Current Account Deficit', Submission to Senate Economics References Committee public inquiry.
- Chalk, N and R. Hemming (2000) 'Assessing Fiscal Sustainability in Theory and Practice', *IMF Working Paper No.00/81*.
- Commonwealth of Australia, various years. 'Budget Papers', AGPS, Canberra.
- -----(2002a) 'Intergenerational Report 2002–03', 2002–03 Budget Paper No.5, AGPS, Canberra.
- ----- (2002b) 'Review of the Commonwealth Government Securities Market', Discussion Paper.

- Corden, M. (1991) 'Does the Current Account Matter? The Old View and the New', *Economic Papers*, 10(3): 1–19.
- Dark, D. and J. Hawkins (2005) 'Why Have Australia's Imports of Goods Increased So Much?', *Economic Roundup* Summer 2004–05, Treasury.
- Debelle, G. and G. Galati (2005) 'Current Account Adjustment and Capital Flows', *BIS Working Paper No.169*.
- Edey, M and L. Gower (2000) 'National Saving: Trends and Policy', in D. Gruen and S. Shrestha, eds., *The Australian Economy in the 1990s*, Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney: 277–311.
- Exports and Infrastructure Taskforce (2005) 'Australia's Export Infrastructure', Report to the Prime Minister, Canberra.
- FitzGerald, V. W. (1993) 'National Saving: A Report to the Treasurer', AGPS, Canberra.
- Gruen, D. and A. Sayegh (2005) 'The Evolution of Fiscal Policy in Australia', *Australian Treasury Working Paper* 2005–04.
- Gruen, D. and G. Stevens (2000) 'Australian Macroeconomic Performance and Policies in the 1990s', in D. Gruen, and S. Shrestha, eds., *The Australian Economy in the 1990s*, Reserve Bank of Australia, Sydney: 32–72
- IMF (2005a) 'Australia: Staff Report for the 2005 Article úM Consultation', International Monetary Fund, Washington DC.
- —— (2005b) 'Japan: Staff Report for the 2005 Article úM Consultation', International Monetary Fund, Washington DC.
- Japanese Government (2005) 'Heisei 18nendo Yosan Hensei no Kihon Hoshin' ('Basic Principles of FY2006 Budget Formulation', in Japanese), Tokyo.
- (2006) 'Structural Reform and Medium-Term Economic and Fiscal Perspectives FY2005 Revision', Tokyo.
- Kawakami, Y. (2002) 'Nihon Kokusai no Kakuduke ni kansuru Gaikoku Kakuduke Kaisha ni taisuru Ikensho no Souhu ni tsuite' ('The view of the Ministry of Finance on the ratings of the Japanese government bonds delivered to the foreign rating agencies involved', in Japanese), The Finance: 38(3), 37–45.
- Makin, T. (2002) 'The Public Accounts and Fiscal Policy', *The Australian Economic Review*, 35(3): 349–361.
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare of Japan (2006) 'Shaikai Hosho no Kyuuhu to Hutan no Mitoushi' ('The Estimate of Social Security Benefits and Burdens', in Japanese), Tokyo.
- Musgrave, R. A. (1959) 'The Theory of Public Finance', McGraw-Hill. New York.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and development (2005a) 'Economic Survey of Australia, 2004: Policy Brief', OECD, Paris.
- (2005b) 'Economic Survey of Japan, 2005: Policy Brief', OECD, Paris.
- Pitchford, J D. (1989) 'A Sceptical View of Australia's Current Account and Debt Problem', *The Australian Economic Review:* 86, 5–14.
- Senate Economics References Committee (2005) 'Consenting Adults Deficits and Household Debt', Parliament House, Canberra.

Previous Pacific Economic Papers

- 363 Political institutions and distributive politics in Japan: getting along with the opposition *Yusaku Horiuchi*, 2007
- 362 Negotiating the Australia–Japan basic treaty of friendship and cooperation: reflections and afterthoughts *Garry Woodard, Moreen Dee and Max Suich*, 2007
- 361 China and East Asian energy: prospects and issues Vol. 1 Peter Drysdale, Kejun Jiang and Dominic Meagher, 2007
- 360 Agriculture and political reform in Japan: the Koizumi legacy Aurelia George Mulgan, 2006
- 359 Nothing new in the (north) east? Interpreting the rhetoric and reality of Japanese corporate governance *Luke Nottage*, 2006
- 358 Multinational corporations and Pacific regionalism *Philippa Dee*, 2006
- 357 Reliability of structural shocks estimates from a bivariate SVAR model: the case of Southeast Asian countries Arief Ramayandi, 2006
- 356 RMB exchange rate and local currency price stability: the case of China and ASEAN+3 *Xiao Bing Feng*, 2006
- 355 Technical efficiency and its determinants in Gansu, West China Sizhong Sun, 2006
- 354 The making of Asia's first bilateral FTA: Origins and regional implications of the Japan– Singapore economic partnership agreement *Takashi Terada*, 2006
- 353 US and EU trade policies and East Asia Peter Drysdale and Christopher Findlay, 2006
- 352 The Japan–Australia partnership in the era of the East Asian community: can they advance together? Takashi Terada, 2005
- 351 Trade policy at the crossroads *Bill Carmichael*, 2005
- 350 East Asian economic integration and its impact on future growth *Philippa Dee*, 2005
- 349 ASEAN monetary cooperation: Issues and prospects *Arief Ramayandi*, 2005
- 348 Growth and reform in the Korean economy Volume edited by Jong–Soon Kang and Jung Soo Seo, 2005

- 347 Trade policy at the crossroads The Indonesian story David Vanzetti et al, 2005
- 346 Fiscal rules and targets and public expenditure management: Enthusiasm in the 1990s and its aftermath *Hideaki Tanaka*, 2005
- 345 The Australia–US Free Trade Agreement: An assessment *Philippa Dee*, 2005
- 344 Regional cooperation in East Asia and FTA strategies *Peter Drysdale*, 2005
- 343 Taiwan's role in the economic architecture of East Asia and the Pacific *Peter Drysdale and Xinpeng Xu*, 2005
- 342 A regional bond market for East Asia? The evolving political dynamics of regional financial cooperation *Jennifer Amyx*, 2004
- 341 East Asian economic integration: China's perspective and policy *Xu Mingqi*, 2003
- 340 Services trade liberalisation Motoshige Itoh and Naoki Shimoi, 2003
- The enigma of Toyota's competitive advantage: Is Denso the missing link in the academic literature?
 Evelyn Anderson, 2003
- 338 An ASEAN economic community and ASEAN+3: How do they fit together? Hadi Soesastro, 2003
- 337 Regional approaches to services trade and investment liberalisation Jane Drake–Brockman, 2003
- 336 Beyond free trade agreements: 21st century choices for East Asian economic cooperation Andrew Elek, February 2003
- 335 Trading with favourites: Free trade agreements in the Asia Pacific *Christopher Findlay, Haflah Piei and Mari Pangestu*, January 2003
- 334 WTO market access negotiations for non-agricultural products, Doha Round: Implications for East Asia Kate Flowers and Malcolm Bosworth, December 2002
- 333 Regional economic integration in East Asia Jane Drake–Brockman and Peter Drysdale, November 2002
- 332 Strengthening regional financial cooperation in East Asia Haruhiko Kuroda and Masahiro Kawai, October 2002

- 331 Moving beyond bilateralism? Japan and the Asian Monetary Fund *Jennifer Amyx*, September 2002
- 330 Impact of APEC trade liberalisation on Sino–Australian bilateral trade Yu Sheng, August 2002
- 329 Intra-industry foreign direct investment and intra-industry trade in Korea Jung–Soo Seo, Jong–Soon Kang and Deok–Ki Kim, July 2002
- 328 The effects of the euro on financial markets, activity and structure *Werner Studener*, June 2002
- 327 The compatibility of capital controls and financial development: a selective survey and empirical evidence *Menzie D. Chinn*, May 2002
- 326 The Basel process and regional harmonisation in Asia Shinichi Yoshikuni, April 2002
- 325 Trends in global finance, markets and institutions: some implications for developments in the Asian region William E. Alexander, March 2002
- 324 The IMF and East Asia Gordon de Brouwer, February 2002

Annual subscription rate for twelve issues:

Individuals A\$65.00 (includes GST) A\$60 (overseas) Institutions A\$110.00 (includes GST) A\$100 (overseas)

Cost for single issues:

A\$16.50 (includes GST) A\$15.00 (overseas) A\$10.00 (Students)

No postage required within Australia

Available from:Publications Department
Australia–Japan Research Centre
Crawford School of Economics and Management
ANU College of Asia and the Pacific
The Australian National University
Canberra ACT 0200, Australia
Facsimile: (612)61250767
Telephone: (612)61253780
Email: ajrc@anu.edu.au
URL: http://www.crawford.anu.edu.au